# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/5/2022 12:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101143-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

No. 56160-3

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LISA EARL,

Petitioner,

v.

### CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

James E. Lobsenz WSBA #8787 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 lobsenz@carneylaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

### **

### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of a Public Records Act ["PRA"] case because it was not filed within the one-year statute of limitations period. Despite being repeatedly informed that in *In re Fowler*, 197 Wn.2d 46, 479 P.3d 1164 (2021) this Court recently decided that application of equitable tolling is *not* limited to situations where the opposing party engaged in bad faith, deception, or the making of deliberately false assurances, the Court of Appeals did not even acknowledge the existence of *Fowler*. Instead, directly contrary to *Fowler* it held that equitable tolling *is* so limited.

Similarly, despite being repeatedly this Court's decision in *U.S. Oil Refining Co. v. Department of Ecology* 96 Wash.2d 85, 633 P.2d 1329 (1981), the Court of Appeals also did not even acknowledge the existence of that directly relevant case. *U.S. Oil* holds that when a government agency has a legal obligation to "self-report" a fact, if it fails to report or disclose that fact, then the discovery rule applies and the statute of

limitations does not begin to run until the plaintiff learns the undisclosed fact. Plaintiff Earl argued that *U.S. Oil* controls this case, and that the discovery rule applies to all PRA suits. Although *U.S. Oil* was cited to the Court of Appeals and was discussed at length during oral argument, the Court of Appeals simply ignored it and rendered a decision which flatly contradicts its holding.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the course of trying to arrest Kenneth Wright, who was seated in the passenger seat, a Tacoma police officer shot and killed the driver, Jackie Salyers. Salyers' mother, Lisa Earl, wanted to know why. Unbeknownst to Earl, within 90 minutes of the shooting, the Tacoma PD SWAT team was called out and dozens of police officers responded to the scene. These SWAT officers searched for Wright, detained five potential witnesses to the shooting, and turned them over to detectives for questioning. App. B-3. Detective Jack Nasworthy, the commander of the SWAT team's mobile "Command Post," went to retrieve video

from a police surveillance camera that had been erected and pointed at the exact spot where the shooting took place. Nasworthy maintained that the camera mysteriously failed to function that night and that there was no recorded video of the incident. App. A-4.

Lisa Earl wanted to know why a Tacoma officer fired eight shots at her daughter and killed her with a shot to the head. App. E, ¶3. She made a PRA request for "[a]ll documents related to the shooting death of" her daughter. App. A-4. Tacoma produced a number of records and told Earl that it had determined that "there are no other records responsive to your request." App. A-5. Having no reason to doubt that representation, and no way of checking to see if that was true, Lisa Earl believed that representation was true. App. A-6. She believed that she had received all the documents she requested. App. E, ¶9.

But Tacoma never produced the master record of the activities of the SWAT team, a record entitled the Command Post

Log. App. A-6. That document bore the same Tacoma Police Department case number as every document that was disclosed to her in response to her PRA request. App. A-6; App. F-10. Moreover, on every page of that document the "SITUATION" for the SWAT team callout was labeled "Officer-Involved-Shooting." App. B-2, B-3, and B-4.

Lisa Earl did not know any of the following facts: (1) that there was such a thing as a mobile Command Post for the Tacoma PD SWAT team; (2) that on the night that her daughter was shot and killed, the Tacoma Police Department sent the mobile "Command Post" to the neighborhood of the shooting; (3) that a person named Jack Nasworthy was employed by the Tacoma PD and was the officer in charge of the "Command Post" that night; (4) that Nasworthy was responsible for creating a log of the SWAT team's activities and of coordinating the actions of all the officers on the scene; (5) that Nasworthy did create such a Command Post Log; and (6) that the log recorded the fact that several potential witnesses who lived in the house located right

behind the spot where Salyers was shot, were ordered to come out of their house and were "taken into custody" by members of the SWAT team and transported to a police station for questioning. App. E, ¶¶ 10-14.

Believing that the shooting of her daughter was unjustified, Earl filed suit in federal court against the officer and the City. More than two years later, after the period of time for discovery had expired, and after Earl learned that Nasworthy claimed to have discovered that the police surveillance camera failed to record anything, Earl filed a motion asking the district court judge to reopen discovery so that she could depose Nasworthy. In response to Earl's motion, (which the district court granted), Tacoma filed an affidavit from Nasworthy in which he declared that he did not destroy or erase any video recorded on that camera. Attached to the affidavit was a copy of the SWAT team's Command Post Log. App. B. According to Nasworthy, this log showed that he could not possibly have destroyed any video. App. D-2, D-4.

Once Earl discovered that the SWAT Command Post Log existed, she filed suit against Tacoma for violation of the PRA. Tacoma responded that the suit was untimely because it was not filed within the one-year statute of limitations. Earl maintained that because Tacoma told her they had given her all responsive documents, the statute of limitations was equitably tolled. She also maintained that because she did not know the PRA had been violated and could not possibly have known until the Nasworthy affidavit was filed, that the discovery rule applied and that the one-year statute of limitations did not begin to run until she discovered that the PRA had been violated. The Superior Court rejected Earl's arguments. Ignoring this Court's decisions in Fowler and U.S. Oil, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

### III. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Lisa Earl seeks review of the decision issued below on July 12, 2022, attached as Appendix A.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that equitable tolling of a statute of limitations is limited to those situations where the plaintiff can show that the defendant deliberately mislead the plaintiff, contrary to this Court's recent decision in *Fowler* where this court held that there is no such limitation on equitable tolling?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that the discovery rule does not apply to statutory actions seeking to collect penalties for violations of the PRA, contrary to this Court's decision in *U.S. Oil* where this court reversed the Court of Appeals for refusing to apply the discovery rule to a statutory action to collect penalties for violation of a pollution statute?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err by dismissing a complaint for violation of the PRA where, in response to a request for all records relating to the shooting death of the plaintiff's daughter, the police agency failed to produce the SWAT team's Command Post Log which bore the words

"Officer Involved Shooting" on every page and documented the police action of taking potential witnesses to the shooting into custody so that they could be questioned as to what they had seen or heard?

4. Did the Court of Appeals err by dismissing a complaint for violation of the PRA for police department failure to conduct an adequate search for requested records where the police conceded that they don't even know where they searched and cannot represent that they ever searched the files kept at the SWAT team's separate office?

### V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. The decision below is in direct conflict with this Court's recent decision in In re Fowler. (RAP 13.4(b)(1).
  - 1. The Court of Appeals held that equitable tolling applies only when there is a showing that there was a deliberate attempt to mislead.

Relying on *Price v. Gonzalez*, 4 Wn.App.2d 67, 419 P.3d 858 (2018), the Court below held that Washington courts apply equitable tolling only when the defendant's conduct constitutes

"bad faith, deception, or false assurances," and only where the plaintiff can make "a showing that the defendant 'made a deliberate attempt to mislead" the plaintiff. App. A-15, citing *Price*, at 76. According to the Court of Appeals, although the City had given Earl an express assurance that it had given her a copy of every document that was responsive to her PRA request, and although this response may well have been false, since Earl had failed to show that this assurance was "deliberately" false, she could not satisfy the requirements for equitable tolling:

[A]s explained above, Washington courts have applied the false assurances prong in narrow circumstances and have appeared to require a showing of the defendant's deliberate attempt to mislead the plaintiff. *Price*, 4 Wn. App.2d at 76. Therefore, the response *may* have turned out to be objectively false, but given that there is no evidence the City knew it was false and deliberately mislead Earl when it made the statement, the closing letter was not on its own a "false assurance" for the purposes of equitable tolling.

App. A-16 (italics in original).

## 2. In *Fowler* and other cases, this Court has made clear that there is no such limitation on the applicability of equitable tolling.

In her opening brief of appellant, Earl pointed out that "[i]n *Millay v. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998)," the Supreme Court held that equitable tolling applies "upon a finding of fraud, oppression, *or other equitable circumstances.*" (Italics added). She also noted that although *Millay* mentioned "bad faith, deception or false assurances" as circumstances to which equitable tolling applies, this Court held equitable tolling applied even though none of those specified predicates were present. Earl further noted that Division Two of the Court of Appeals had itself applied equitable tolling in a case where there had not been any bad faith, deception or false assurances. In *State v. Littlefair*, 112 Wn. App. 749, 762, 51 P.3d 116 (2002),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *Millay* the defendant "created confusion regarding the amount due" on a mortgage. *Id.* at 205. Despite the fact that there was no showing that the defendant *deliberately* created such confusion or that the defendant *intended* to mislead the plaintiff, this Court held that equitable tolling applied.

the court which accepted the defendant's guilty plea simply failed to tell him that he was pleading guilty to an offense for which deportation was a possible consequence. No one suggested that the plea judge, or anyone else, had acted with any deliberate intent to mislead the defendant. Nevertheless, equitable tolling applied because "due to a series of mistakes by his attorney, the court, and arguably the INS," the defendant did not know he would likely be deported if he plead guilty.

The *Millay* opinion states, "this court allows equitable tolling when justice requires." 135 Wn.2d at 206. The Court of Appeals ignored this statement, as well as the statement that equitable tolling applies "upon a finding of fraud, oppression, or other equitable circumstances." The Court below ignored these statements in *Millay* and the holding of that case that equitable tolling did apply despite the absence of any showing of a deliberate intent to mislead the plaintiff.

In her opening brief, Earl explicitly advised the Court of Appeals that the case of *In re Fowler*, 9 Wn. App.2d 158, 442

P.3d 647 (2019), rev. granted, 195 Wn.2d 1007 (2020) was pending before this Court.<sup>2</sup> Earl told the Court of Appeals that the issue in *Fowler* was whether equitable tolling applied in situations where the plaintiff received a false assurance which was made *without* any intent to mislead anyone.

Later, in her Reply Brief, Earl told the Court of Appeals that *Fowler* had been decided and that this Court had *rejected* the contention that the predicates for application of equitable tolling were limited to the three previously mentioned (bad faith, deception or false assurances).

In *Fowler* the Petitioner's former attorney assured him that he was preparing and would file a timely personal restraint petition. But that was not true, and the attorney never filed a PRP. There was no suggestion, however, that Fowler's attorney was acting in bad faith, or that he was *intentionally* deceiving Fowler. The attorney simply made a promise that he did not keep.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Br. of Appellant, at 23, n. 12.

Subsequently, Fowler got a new attorney who filed a PRP and argued that even though it was not filed within the one-year statute of limitations, the assurances that Fowler had been given by his former attorney triggered equitable tolling. This Court agreed with Fowler and rejected the very same argument that the Court of Appeals accepted in this case. This Court said:

We see no reason for such a limitation. Such a limitation would undermine the purpose of equitable tolling – to ensure the fundamental fairness when extraordinary circumstances have stood in a petitioner's way. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals erred when it stated that "Washington courts require bad faith, deception, or false assurances caused by the opposing party or the court" in order to justify equitable tolling.

Fowler, 197 Wn.2d at 55. (emphasis added). This Court held that Fowler reasonably relied on his attorney's assurance that he was preparing a timely PRP for him and that was enough to allow equitable tolling. Here, Earl reasonably relied on Tacoma's assurance that it had given her all documents responsive to her PRA request regarding the death of her daughter. There is no material difference. The Court of Appeals' decision that

equitable tolling does not apply because Earl cannot show that Tacoma *knew* that it was lying and intended to mislead her simply flies in the face of *Fowler* (and *Millay* and *Littlefair*).

The Court below never even mentioned *Fowler*. Ordinarily, one might assume this was simply an oversight. But that is not possible in this case. *Fowler* was drawn to the Court of Appeals' attention in both of Earl's briefs, and was explicitly mentioned by counsel during oral argument. App. F-11. The Court of Appeals simply refused to apply *Fowler* and premised its decision on a proposition that cannot be squared with *Fowler*.

B. The decision below is in conflict with *Thompson v.* Wilson. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Even assuming that Tacoma's false assurance must have been *deliberately* false in order for equitable tolling to apply, there is circumstantial evidence of that in this case.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that it was incumbent upon Earl to show that Tacoma's assurance that it had given her everything responsive to her PRA request was deliberately false, there was evidence from which a trier of fact could easily find deliberate falseness and/or bad faith. Earl pointed to *Thompson* 

v. Wilson, 142 Wn. App. 803, 175 P.3d 1149 (2008), another case where a mother was trying to get information about her adult daughter's death. In *Thompson* the mother believed that her daughter had been murdered by her husband, but the county coroner had ruled that her death was a suicide. The mother attempted to exercise her statutory right to meet with the coroner. The coroner repeatedly promised to meet with her, but he never did. By the time the mother filed suit to enforce her statutory right the ordinary statute of limitations period had expired. The appellate court, however, ruled that because the coroner "misled her" and he did "not dispute [the mother's] assertions of deception and misleading assurance," id. at 814, a rational fact finder could conclude that the coroner acted with deliberate deception. Therefore, the *Thompson* Court ruled that equitable tolling applied because there was either deception or false assurances. In this case the mother, Lisa Earl, tried to get all records relating to her daughter's death, which she believed was an unjustifiable murder committed by a police officer. She was

assured that she had been giving every document "responsive" to her request. The Court of Appeals purported to distinguish *Thompson* on the ground that Earl "present[ed] no evidence which ... would lead a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that the City deliberately made false, misleading assurances to her, thereby causing the limitations period to lapse." App. A-18.

For over a decade it has been established that an agency has the burden of proving beyond a material doubt that it conducted a reasonable search. *Neighborhood Alliance v. Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720-21, 261 P.3d 119 (2011); *West v. City of Tacoma*, 12 Wn. App.2d 45, 80, 456 P.3d 894 (2020). Here, the agency represented to Earl that it had acted in good faith and that it had conducted a reasonable search. The record, however, shows that nothing could be further from the truth.

Earl presented undisputed evidence that shows that the Tacoma deliberately allows the SWAT commander to decide where to keep SWAT team police records. Thus, Tacoma *does* act in "bad faith." App. F-6. Tacoma allows the commander to

decide *not* to integrate SWAT records into the regular computerized electronic records database, and to put them instead into a file drawer in a separate building where the SWAT team has its office. Thus, Tacoma enables the commander to keep SWAT records where they are not likely to be found. CP 388-89; App. F-10 ("You can't leave it up to police departments to be able to sort of offshore" a SWAT record "where it can't be found.").

Moreover, in its interrogatory answers the City conceded that it does not know who actually searched for the requested records *or where they searched*. The City lamely asserts that whoever conducted the search "would have searched both electronic and paper records within their control where responsive records would have reasonably been thought to be located." CP 514. This assertion does not even come close to satisfying its burden of proof under *Neighborhood Alliance*. Here the City never claimed that it had searched the SWAT office files. Nasworthy acknowledged that no one ever asked him

to search for SWAT team records and he never did such a search.

But when the Earl sued the City for civil rights violations the City had no trouble locating the SWAT Command Post Log and using it to support its defense.

These facts clearly do permit a rational fact-finder to conclude that the City *deliberately* gave a false assurance to Lisa Earl. Thus, even if the *Fowler* case had never been decided; and even if some evidence of deliberate deception was required, Lisa Earl *did* present such evidence. Thus, her case should never have been dismissed on summary judgment.

C. The decision below is in direct conflict with this Court's decision in *U.S. Oil.* RAP 13.4(b)(1). Application of the discovery rule is "dictated ... where the plaintiff lacks the means or ability to ascertain that a wrong has been committed." 96 Wn.2d at 93.

This Court has long recognized that "in some circumstances where the plaintiff is unaware of the harm [she has] sustained, a literal application of the statute of limitations could result in grave injustice. To avoid this injustice, courts have applied a discovery rule of accrual, under which the cause

of action accrues when the plaintiff discovers, or in the reasonable exercise of diligence should discover, the elements of the cause of action." *Virginia Limited Partnership v. Vertecs*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 575-76, 146 P.3d 423 (2006). For example in *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 665, 453 P.2d 631 (1969), 22 years after surgery a patient discovered her surgeon had left a sponge in her body. Although the statute of limitations was two years, this Court held that it would be inequitable to cut off the patient's legal remedies after two years because she had no way of knowing of the doctor's malpractice.

Because it is not possible for a patient to see inside her body, a patient cannot be faulted for failing to discover that she has suffered such an actionable wrong until after the limitations period has expired. Similarly, a records requester cannot go and search an agency's files and computers for records. She cannot be faulted for failing to know that the agency has failed to disclose a properly requested record, or failed to conduct a reasonably adequate search for requested records. In this case,

as in *Ruth*, the relevant information was located in a place that was impossible for the plaintiff to search. In both cases, the discovery rule should – and does – apply.

However, relying on the prior Division Two decision in Dotson v. Pierce County, 13 Wn. App.2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020), the Court below held that the discovery rule does not apply to PRA cases. In oral argument, Earl asserted that the Court should not follow *Dotson* because it was wrongly decided. App. F-8. Judge Maxa acknowledged that the panel was not bound by *Dotson*, but commented, "you know, we like our colleagues. We try not to overrule them or disregard them without reason." App. F-8. Earl responded that *Dotson* should not be followed because it conflicted with U.S. Oil. There this Court held that "unfairness of precluding justified causes of action ... dictated the application of the [discovery] rule where the plaintiff lacks the means or ability to ascertain that a wrong has been committed." 96 Wn.2d at 93 (italics added).

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