#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/6/2022 11:08 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### NO. 101143-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### LISA EARL,

Appellant,

v.

#### CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

## CITY OF TACOMA'S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### WILLIAM B. FOSBRE, City Attorney

MICHELLE N. YOTTER WSB#49075 Attorney for Respondent Tacoma City Attorney's Office 747 Market Street, Suite 1120 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 591-5885

##

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for discretionary review shall only be accepted if the petition meets specific criteria as identified in RAP 13.4(b). Earl fails to establish any of the criteria identified by RAP 13.4(b) necessary for discretionary review and, as such, her Petition should be denied.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  As such, the City is not going to address any of the inaccurate allegations related to the shooting of Salyers or Earl's conspiracy theories – as those claims are wholly unrelated to the matter currently before this Court.

## A. Division II's holding in <u>Earl</u> is consistent with this Court's previous decisions, therefore there is no basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Earl claims Division II's decision below is in direct conflict with both of this Court's decisions in: (1) <u>In re Pers.</u> <u>Restraint of Fowler</u>, 197 Wn.2d 46, 479 P.3d 1164 (2021); and (2) <u>U.S. Oil & Ref. Co. v. Department of Ecology</u>, 96 Wn.2d 85, 633 P.2d 1329 (1981). Earl argues that this alleged inconsistency warrants this Court's review of this matter under RAP 13.4(b)(1). As outlined below, there is no conflict between this Court's earlier decisions and Division II's holding in <u>Earl</u>, therefore this Petition should be denied.

1. <u>Subsequent to the filing of Earl's Petition for review in</u> <u>this matter, this Court issued its decision in Fowler v.</u> <u>Guerin that definitively confirmed there are four</u> <u>predicate conditions necessary for equitable tolling to</u> <u>apply in civil matters.</u>

In the civil litigation context, this Court has clearly identified four conditions that must be present in order for a court to grant equitable relief by tolling the statute: [Washington law] allows equitable tolling (1) when justice requires. The predicates for equitable tolling are (2) bad faith, deception, or false assurances by the defendant and (3) the exercise of diligence by the plaintiff. In Washington equitable tolling is appropriate (4) when consistent with both the purpose of the statute providing the cause of action and the purpose of the statute of limitations.

<u>Fowler v. Guerin</u>, 200 Wn.2d 110, 119 (2022)(*citing* <u>Millay v.</u> <u>Cam</u>, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998)).

Critically, in the matter at bar, Division II found "Earl presents no evidence to suggest that the City made deliberately false, misleading assurances which caused the statute of limitations to lapse" and accordingly Division II refused to equitably toll the statute of limitations applicable to Earl's PRA Claim. <u>Earl</u> at \*21. Earl argues that, in light of this Court's decision in <u>In re Fowler</u>, Division II erred below when it held that Earl was required to provide sufficient evidence establishing each of the conditions necessary for equitable tolling mandated by <u>Millay</u>. Earl asserts that this Court's decision in <u>In re Fowler</u>

should be eligible for equitable tolling and ultimately considered timely.

However, this Court made it abundantly clear in its very

recent decision from Fowler v. Guerin, that:

[t]he four-part standard set forth in <u>Millay</u> remains the standard for equitable tolling of statutes of limitations in civil actions under Washington law. Washington courts must evaluate each part of this standard in light of the particular facts of each case and should equitably toll the applicable statute of limitations only when *all four parts* of the <u>Millay</u> standard are satisfied.

Fowler v. Guerin, at 124-25 (Aug. 18, 2022)(emphasis added).

Accordingly, Division II's application of the <u>Millay</u> factors in its equitable tolling analysis below does not conflict with this Court's jurisprudence and, as such, Earl's argument here must fail.

## 2. <u>Division II's decision in Earl does not conflict with this</u> <u>Court's holding in U.S. Oil.</u>

Earl also contends that review is warranted because Division II's decision below is in direct conflict with this Court's 1981 decision in <u>U.S. Oil</u> as it pertains to application of the discovery rule.

U.S. Oil, however, is obviously distinguishable from the matter presently before this Court – both on the facts and on the law. First, U.S. Oil involved the regulation of the discharge of pollutants by the Washington State Department of Ecology ("DOE"). U.S. Oil, at 87. Under DOE regulations, businesses, like U.S. Oil, are required to self-report discharge of pollutants. Id. In that matter, U.S. Oil filed the required reports, but the reports were inaccurate in that they did not disclose that U.S. Oil had exceeded it effluent limits. Id. The DOE had no way to know that the required reports filed by U.S. Oil were inaccurate. Id. U.S. Oil did not dispute that they had submitted inaccurate reports and had illegally discharged pollutants. Id. U.S. Oil argued, however, that it should avoid penalty for the illegal discharge and false reports because the statute of limitations had run. Id. The facts in U.S. Oil are in no way akin to a PRA claim.

More importantly however, this Court expressly limited its adoption of the discovery rule in <u>U.S. Oil</u> to "*actions brought by DOE* to collect penalties for unlawful waste discharges." <u>U.S.</u> <u>Oil</u> at 94 (emphasis added). Accordingly, based on this Court's clear and definitive holding in <u>U.S. Oil</u>, Division II did not err below when it refused to apply the discovery rule in Earl's *PRA* action.

Because Earl cannot demonstrate any conflict in Division II's holding below with <u>In re Fowler</u> or <u>U.S. Oil</u>, there is no basis for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), as such, Earl's Petition should be denied.

## B. Division II's holding in <u>Earl</u> is consistent with Division II's previous decisions, therefore there is no basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Earl also argues Division II's decision below is in direct conflict with Division II's prior holding in <u>Thompson v. Wilson</u>, 142 Wn. App. 803, 175 P.3d 1149 (2008), thereby warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). As outlined herein, there is no conflict between Division II's decision below and Division II's holding in <u>Thompson</u>, therefore Earl cannot establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and this Petition should be denied.

In disputed the coroner's Thompson, Thompson classification of her daughter's death. Id. at 809. She sought to have the death certificate modified. Id. She met with the coroner and provided an independent case review that disputed the manner of death. Id. The coroner assured Thompson that he would review the documents she provided and meet with her again. Id. Despite his agreement to do so, the coroner did not meet with Ms. Thompson again. Id. Only after the coroner refused further meetings did Thompson file a petition for a writ of certiorari asking for judicial review of the actions and determinations of the coroner. Id. The trial court dismissed the matter on summary judgment finding Thompson's cause of action time barred. Id. at 814. On appeal, Division II reversed, finding that the statute of limitation had been equitably tolled. Id.

In holding that equitable tolling applied in <u>Thompson</u>, Division II based its ruling on its finding that Thompson had "actively and continuously" sought an explanation of the coroner's findings *and* that the coroner had deliberately mislead her. <u>Id</u>. In sharp contrast to the facts in <u>Thompson</u>, there was no exercise of diligence by Earl, and Division II found "no evidence to suggest that the City made deliberate, false, or misleading assurances" to Earl. <u>Earl</u> at \*21.

Earl contends that the City's search for records was inadequate – an argument based only on the City's alleged failure to produce a single document. With an inexplicable and unjustifiable leap, Earl then argues that such an inadequate search is tantamount to the showing of "bad faith" necessary to equitably toll the statute of limitations on her PRA Claim. This argument is contrary to well-settled PRA jurisprudence. "The adequacy of a search is judged by a standard of reasonableness, that is, the search must be reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents." <u>Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane</u> County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720, 261 P.3d 119(2011). "A reasonable search need neither be exhaustive nor successful." Kozol v. Dep't of Corr., 192 Wn. App. 1, 9, 366 P.3d 933, review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1034 (2016). "The fact that the record eventually was found does not establish that the agency's search was not adequate." Kozol, at 8 (citing Neighborhood Alliance, at 719). To the extent that an agency simply misses responsive documents when responding to a request, the courts have held that the agency's "search need not be perfect, only adequate." Block v. City of Goldbar, 189 Wn. App. 262, 276, 355 P.3d 266 (2015) (quoting Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 720). See also, Forbes v. City of Gold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 288 P.3d 384 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1002(2013). That a requester later obtains a responsive document either from the agency or from a third party does not create a genuine issue of material fact for trial. Block, at 276. Under Earl's theory, the statute of limitations would be tolled every time a requestor later obtains a single document that is even arguably responsive. Earl's theory would both nullify the statute of limitations imposed by Chapter 42.56 RCW, and completely undermine the doctrine of equitable tolling. *See e.g.* <u>Price v.</u> <u>Gonzalez</u>, 4 Wn. App. 2d 67, 419 P.3d 858 (2018)("Courts typically permit equitable tolling to occur only sparingly, and should not extend it to a garden variety claim of excusable neglect.")

Earl also misstates the facts developed in this matter. Earl claims that: "Tacoma deliberately allows the SWAT team commander to decide where to keep SWAT team police records;" "Tacoma allows the commander to decide *not* to integrate SWAT records into the regular computerized electronic records database;" and, "Tacoma enables the commander to keep SWAT records where they are not likely to be found." <u>Petition for Review</u>, p. 16-17. Each of these claims are undeniably inaccurate and contrary to the record developed in this case.

The record on the storage of the Command Post Log at the heart of this case is clear. When Command Post Logs (including this one) are received by the chain of command, the Logs (including the one in question here) are stored electronically in the SWAT team section on Cop Web. App. 7. Cop Web is a centralized electronic database maintained by TPD. App. 8.

At all times relevant, the City knew where this Command Post Log was located. The City did not search for the Command Post Log in question because it was not responsive to Earl's PRA request. In relevant part, Earl' PRA request sought:

All documents related to the shooting death of Jacqueline Salyers on January 27-28, 2016, including but not limited to the complete investigative report, and any and all follow-up reports, investigation materials, witness statements and officer's notes, photographs, DXF/CAD files, measurements, physical evidence, video/audio, dash cams, and the involved vehicle including any data downloads from that vehicle.

<u>Earl</u> at \*6.

The Command Post Log at issue here contains information relating *exclusively* to the manhunt for Wright<sup>3</sup>. App. 10. There is *no information whatsoever* contained in the Command Post Log related to the shooting of Salyers or the investigation that followed. <u>Id</u>. The Command Post Log does not so much as mention Salyers's name. <u>Id</u>. This record was never stored "in a place it could not be found" as Earl claims; it simply wasn't identified as responsive to Earl's PRA request, so no search for the Command Post Log was performed.

Because Earl fails to demonstrate any conflict between Division II's holding in <u>Thompson</u> and the matter below, there is no basis for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), as such, Earl's Petition should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Kenneth Wright was a violent felon, who was seen *after* the shooting of Salyers running through the neighborhood with a long gun. On the evening in questions, the SWAT team was dispatched for the sole purpose of locating Wright. App. 9.

C. Earl cannot demonstrate any issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, therefore there is no basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Finally, Earl offers no compelling argument that the facts presented in her case amount to "an issue of substantial public interest" requiring review by this Court.

1. <u>This Court should not impose a common law discovery</u> <u>rule in PRA actions – doing so would override the</u> <u>Legislature and eviscerate the statute of limitations.</u>

Earl argues that this Court should implement a common law discovery rule in all PRA cases to promote the PRA's purpose, to hold governmental agencies accountable, and to prevent injustice. Under the theory advanced by Earl, there would be no finality in PRA requests. Instead, the discovery rule would apply in *every single* PRA case – effectively nullifying the statute of limitations created by Legislature in RCW 42.56.550(6).

That argument flies in the face of well-settled law. This Court has repeatedly recognized that "statutes of limitation reflect the importance of finality and settled expectations in our civil justice system." Fowler v. Guerin, at 118 (*citing* Douchette v. Bethel Sch. Dist. No. 403, 117 Wn.2d 805, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991)). "Statutes of limitations protect defendants – and the courts – from the burdens of litigating stale claims by requiring prospective plaintiffs to assert their claims before relevant evidence is lost." Id. at 118-119; see also Belenski v. Jefferson Cty., 186 Wn.2d 452, 460-61, 378 P.3d 176 (2016) ("leaving no statute of limitations or imposing a different statute of limitations based on an agency's response" in PRA claims would lead to an "absurd result.").

If the Legislature had intended to implement a common law discovery rule for PRA claims under RCW 42.56.550(6), the Legislature could have done so, but it did not. Moreover, it is clear that the application of a common law discovery rule in PRA cases would erode legislative intent, and lead to the very "absurd result" this Court cautioned against in <u>Belenski</u>. This Court should decline Earl's invitation that this Court impede upon the legislative process.

2. <u>There is no evidence to support Earl's assertion that a</u> <u>one-year statute of limitations in anyway "improves their</u> [i.e., a police department's] chances of - literally - getting away with murder."

Finally, Earl's assertions that "Tacoma has frequently been sued for the actions of its SWAT team which has killed and injured several people" is nothing more than hyperbole. Petition for Review, p. 27. To support that assertion, Earl cites to: Seaman v. Karr; Mancini v. Tacoma; and, Estate of Cunningham v. Tacoma. Id. First, this Court should note that none of these cases involve any claims related to PRA violations – making each wholly irrelevant to the issue presently before this Court. Moreover, in her representation, Earl appears to deliberately ignore the facts present in each of these cases. A careful review of these matters demonstrates that **not one** includes a fact pattern wherein the Tacoma SWAT team injured or killed anyone. See App. 4, 5, 6.

Earl fails to establish any of the criteria identified by RAP 13.4(b)(4) necessary for discretionary review and, as such, her Petition should be denied.

#### v. CONCLUSION

Division II issued a thorough, well-reasoned opinion, and correctly concluded that Earl's PRA Claim was untimely. Division II did not err in reaching this conclusion and review of its opinion is not warranted - on any grounds. Accordingly, Lisa Earl's petition for review must be denied.

This document contains 3199 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.